**RECEIVED**

**Feb 18 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001703

---

Mia Anderson, on Behalf of the  
Estate of Jessie Heyward a/k/a  
Jessie Bell Anderson

Appellant,

v.

Richard Miles Thompson, M.D., and ACS  
Primary Care Physicians – Southeast, P.C.

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

LAW OFFICES OF BROOKS R.  
FUDENBERG, LLC

Brooks R. Fudenberg  
S.C. Bar #72019  
14 Ashe Steet  
Charleston, SC 29403  
(843) 416-2558  
Brooks.R.Fudenberg@Fudenberglaw.com

##

## **Statement of the Issue on Appeal**

Whether the lower court erred in its handling of revelations regarding premature deliberations and juror hostility?

## **Statement of the Case**

This wrongful death and medical malpractice action began June 9, 2020 with the filing of a Summons and Complaint. An Amended Complaint was filed August 8, 2020. The Amended Complaint alleged four causes of action by Mia Anderson, individually and on behalf of the estate of her mother, Jessie Anderson. These were for (1) Negligence-Medical Malpractice, (2) 42 U.S.C. §2000d; 45 C.F.R., Part 80, (3) Wrongful Death, and (4) Survival.

Named as Defendants were Trident Medical Center, LLC d/b/a Moncks Corner Medical Center; Richard Miles Thompson, M.D.; ACS Primary Care Physicians–Southeast P.C; and Jane Doe Defendants 1-5 and John Doe Defendants 1-5.

The second cause of action and the Jane and John Doe Defendants were dismissed by agreement before opening statements. Trident Medical Center, LLC d/b/a Moncks Corner Medical Center was dismissed by stipulation on October 31, 2023.

The remaining Defendants, Respondents Richard Miles Thompson, M.D., and ACS Primary Care Physicians–Southeast P.C., jointly filed their Answer on October 12, 2020. (R. pp. 31-41). The Answer denied liability and denied any deviation from the standard of care. (E.g., *id.* p. 33). These Defendants raised ten affirmative defenses: (1) No Deviation from Standard of Care; (2) Improper Service; (3) No Proximate Cause; (4) Failure to State a Claim; (5) Limitation on liability/Noneconomic Damage Awards Act; (6) Application of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-10, et seq.; (7) Superseding/Intervening Causes; (8) Punitive Damages Unconstitutional; (9) Punitive Damages Limited pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-32-530; and (10) Reservation and Non-Waiver. (R. pp. 38-40).

A five-day trial before the Honorable Thomas Hughston, Jr., from September 11 through September 15, 2023, resulted in a defense verdict. (R. p. 159).

Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial was denied on October 2, 2023. Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal was served on October 31.

## Statement of Facts

### Background Facts

Jessie Anderson (Jessie) was diagnosed by Respondent Richard Miles Thompson, M.D. with bilateral leg pain on April 12, 2016, after she went to the emergency room where he worked, complaining of pain in both legs and weakness. (R. p. 172). He gave her some Flexeril and Tylenol, and sent her home. (R. p. 185). As Appellant's expert Dr. Michael Streiff testified, "That's not a diagnosis; it's a symptom." (R. p. 102, lines 17-18).

She was sent home, and died the next day, after being rushed to another emergency room.

An issue running throughout the trial was why no autopsy had been done. An autopsy would have shown whether Jessie died from pulmonary embolism that should have been diagnosed by Dr. Thompson, as Appellant contended, or from other causes, as urged by the Respondents.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> ACS Primary Care Physicians - Southeast, P.C., the other Respondent, was Dr. Thompson's employer.

To Naomi Tenpenny, Jessie “was a mama. She was somebody that, you know, you met, and you just automatically loved. She was someone that I considered to be my additional mom.” (R. p. 47, lines 19-22).

More generally, Jessie

was the neighborhood mom. She was bubbly. She was the person that anybody can go to. She didn’t care who you are, she would feed you. She didn’t care who you are. She’s the neighborhood mom. There was nothing that you couldn’t go to her and talk about. Her door was always open to anybody. She didn’t care if she knew you or not, she would welcome you with open arms to come on in.

(R. p. 50, line 20 – p. 51, line 2).

So when Ms. Tenpenny got a call at work on April 13, 2016, from Mia Anderson’s (Mia) employer that Mia was hysterical, that there was something going on with Jessie, Mia’s mom, Ms. Tenpenny dropped everything to get Mia and take her to the hospital. (R. p. 51, lines 3-13).

Then – and the jury was not allowed to hear this – the doctor and coroner came out, and in the presence of both Mia and Ms. Tenpenny, each said the cause of death was a pulmonary embolism – a blood clot. (R. p. 52, line 13 – p. 55, line 8). Mia asked for an autopsy. (R. p. 96,

line 14 – p. 97, line 19). The doctor and coroner explained that no autopsy was needed, because they knew why Jessie had died. (R. p. 55, lines 10-22).

The court similarly refused to allow Mia to testify as to what the coroner and doctor told her as to why there was no autopsy. Outside the presence of the jury, the trial Court instructed, “[S]he shouldn’t talk about what the coroner told her, or anything like that, why there was an autopsy or no autopsy, or anything like that.” (R. p. 92, line 24-p. 93, line 2).

### **Operative Procedural Facts**

When the Judge dismissed the jury for a break, and instructed the jury not to discuss the case, the forelady stood up and said “F\*\*\* you” to the Judge. (R. p. 104, line 17 - p. 109, line 3). Then, coming from the jury room, was heard, “I’ll discuss this case, if I want to. What is he going to do to me, throw me in jail?” (*Id.*) (See generally p. 104, line 17 – p. 113, line 13, p. 117, line 9 – p. 120, line 16).

After the above was brought out, the Judge announced outside the presence of the jury his intention “to admonish them again . . . in as strong a language that I can.” (R. p. 109, lines 17-19).

Counsel for Appellant immediately protested that admonishment was insufficient. “If they have begun deliberating or discussing the case, I think that’s completely inappropriate. Either way, they might be in our favor; they might be in their favor. But I don’t think you can go on with the jury, if they’ve already started deliberating.” (R. p. 109, line 21 – p. 110, line 3).

The Court responded, “Well, I appreciate that, but I’m going to admonish them[.]” (R. p. 110, lines 4-5). Counsel for Appellant asked if he would at least try to determine whether the juror who announced her unwillingness to follow the Court’s instructions was the same juror who said “F\*\*\* you” to the judge. (R. p. 110, lines 8-14). Counsel for Defendants supported the request. (*Id.*) The Judge again refused. (“I don’t want to say anything about that[.]”) (*Id.* lines 17-18). He then brought the jury in, again instructed them not to discuss the case among themselves until they are instructed to begin deliberations, and directed that testimony resume. (R. p. 111, line 6 - p. 113, line 13).<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court ended the discussion thusly,

That’s when you are to discuss it, in the privacy of the jury room and not before. I want to make sure you understand that. All right. We’ll go on with the rest of the trial. Doc, I believe

At the first opportunity, Counsel for Plaintiff, again with the support of Defense Counsel, moved to replace the forelady with an alternate. (R. p. 117, line 25 - p. 121, line 2). Or at least to check in on her. (R. p. 119, line 2). In addition to her misconduct before the judge “admonished” the jury, she had continued to raise concerns after the admonishment. With the first witness to testify after the judge’s admonition not to discuss the case, the forelady gave a big eye roll, shot daggers at counsel for both parties, which was “Very disruptive, not just to the jury, but also to the witnesses and to the lawyers” (R. p. 118, lines 15-17) (Appellant’s counsel); “looked like she was having an internal temper tantrum” (R. p. 120, line 3) (Respondent’s counsel). “I don’t think she wants to be here at all, Your Honor, because she shot the same daggers at both of us” (R. p. 118, lines 8-10) (Appellant’s counsel), “Yes” (*id.*, line 11) (Respondent’s counsel). “[W]e have two alternates who appear to be listening attentively and certainly capable.” (*Id.*, lines 20-22) (Respondent’s counsel). The trial judge declined to

---

you were on the stand, come on back up. All right. Finish the direct -- cross.

MS. MASON: Thank you, Your Honor.  
(R. p. 113, lines 8-14).

remove or question her (R. p. 120, lines 6-9), and refused the renewed motion after the conclusion of the evidence. (R. p. 157, lines 4-24).

### **Standard of Review**

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. *State v. Zeigler*, 364 S.C. 94, 108, 610 S.E.2d 859, 866 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A denial of a new trial based on alleged jury misconduct is reviewed for an abuse of discretion”). The phrase “abuse of discretion” “does not mean any reflection upon the presiding Judge” but merely “indicate[s] that the appellate Court is simply of the opinion that there was commission of an error of law[.]” *State v. Wallace*, 440 S.C. 537, 543 n.2, 892 S.E.2d 310, 313 n.2 (2023). Generally speaking, an abuse of discretion occurs “when the ruling is not supported by the evidence or is controlled by an error of law.” *Wallace*, 440 S.C. at 542, 892 S.E.2d at 312. “[A]n ‘arbitrary’ or ‘unreasonable’ ruling clearly is outside of a court’s discretion.” *Id.* at 543 n.3, 892 S.E.2d at 313 n.3.

### **Argument**

There was credible evidence that

a) A juror was overheard stating, “I’ll discuss this case, if I want to. What is he going to do to me, throw me in jail?”

b) When the Judge dismissed the jury for a break, and instructed the jury not to discuss the case, the forelady stood up and said “F\*\*\* you” to the Judge.

The exchange between Court and counsel here is virtually identical to the exchange in *State v. Hurd*, 325 S.C. 384, 480 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct. App. 1996) (emphasis added),

THE COURT: Anything further from the defense?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Your Honor, I don’t have any objection to the charge, but I’m very concerned about the juror who was in the green multicolored shirt there on the front row. He appeared to be asleep during most of it.

THE COURT: I noticed that, but what can I do about that?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Well, I would ask the court to remove him and replace him with the alternate. Or bring him in and question him as to whether he knows what you said because I think it’s important that he—

THE COURT: I noticed him nodding off a couple of times, but he was alert during most of the charge. I’m not going to remove him.

Holding that “a juror who has not heard all the evidence in the case or the court’s instructions as to the applicable principles of law is grossly unqualified to render a verdict,” *id.* (quoting *People v. Valerio*, 141 A.D.2d 585, 529 N.Y.S.2d 350, 351 (1988)), this Court reversed.

Thus, we hold that “it is incumbent upon the trial court to conduct a probing and tactful inquiry to determine whether a sworn juror is unqualified,” and “the court must not speculate ... but must ascertain the juror’s state of mind and must place its reasons for excusing or retaining the juror on the record.” *Valerio*, 529 N.Y.S.2d at 351. *State v. Reevey*, 159 N.J. Super. 130, 387 A.2d 381 (App.Div.1978). *Cf. State v. Holland*, 261 S.C. 488, 201 S.E.2d 118 (1973) (stating that “[i]t is the duty of the trial judge to assure himself that each and every prospective juror is unbiased, fair, and impartial”). Just because a juror closed his eyes does not necessarily mean that he was asleep, but a trial judge should at least attempt to make this determination whenever a juror appears to be asleep. The trial judge committed reversible error by refusing defense counsel’s request to question the juror as to whether he heard all of the charge.

*Id.* (emphasis added).

So too here. If a juror who has not heard all the court’s instructions is grossly unqualified, so too is a juror who has heard the instructions but declares her refusal to follow them. A juror who says “F\*\*\* you” to the Judge in the courtroom indicates an unwillingness to follow the Court’s directives. A juror who announces in the jury room her refusal to follow the Court’s directions does so explicitly. For the same reasons this Court explained in *Hurd*, Ms. Anderson should “be given a new trial.” *Id.*

Other cases may be less directly on point, but share *Hurd's* reasoning. *State v. Rowell*, No. 2022-000571, 2024 WL 4287252, at \*3 (S.C. Sept. 18, 2024) (“We hold it was error for the circuit court to decline the request for an evidentiary hearing so Juror 164 could be examined as to whether his pending charges could have caused him to be biased.”); *State v. Zeigler*, 364 S.C. 94, 108–09, 610 S.E.2d 859, 866–67 (Ct. App. 2005) (where evidence supporting juror misconduct is credible, “the trial court must conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine if misconduct occurred”) (emphasis added) (citing *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 315, 509 S.E.2d 811, 815 (1999)). See also *Ethier v. Fairfield Mem’l Hosp.*, 429 S.C. 649, 656, 842 S.E.2d 355, 359 (2020) (“Because *Vestry* stands for the principle that less than twelve fair and impartial jurors is perfectly acceptable and is an anomaly in our jurisprudence, we overrule it.”) (medical malpractice action).

The Court should follow the authorities above.

## **Conclusion**

The Court should remand for a new trial.