RECEIVED

Feb 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2020-CP-08-01232

Appellant Case No. 2023-001703

Mia Anderson, on Behalf of the Estate of Jessie Heyward
a/k/a Jessie Bell Anderson Appellant,

v.

Richard Miles Thompson, M.D. and ACS Primary Care
Physicians – Southeast, P.C., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROGERS TOWNSEND, LLC

Robert P. Wood, SC Bar No. 6206
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor
PO Box 100200 (29202)
Columbia SC 29201
(803) 771-7900 – Telephone
(803) 343-7017 - Fax
Robert.Wood@RogersTownsend.com

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

II. Appellant has not stated concisely and directly any issue for review.

Facts:

Appellant has only stated the following issue on appeal:

Whether the lower court erred in its handling of revelations regarding premature deliberations and juror hostility.

(Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 1).

Argument

Rule 208(b)(1)(B) requires an appellant to present a “Statement of Issues on Appeal,” where each issue is stated concisely and directly. The rules reads:

Rule 208 Initial Briefs

(b) Content. The initial briefs under this Rule and the final briefs under Rule 211 shall contain:

(1) Brief of Appellant. The brief of appellant shall contain under appropriate headings and in the order here indicated:

(B) Statement of Issues on Appeal. A statement of each of the issues presented for review. The statement shall be concise and direct as to each issue, and may be stated in question form. Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court. Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.

Here, Appellant does not identify a particular error the trial court made, merely claiming the court erred in its “**handling** of revelations regarding premature deliberations and juror hostility.” (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 1). She doesn't even state the court erred in denying her motion to remove a particular juror or to question her. She does not present that as an issue presented for review because, despite her implication to the contrary at the bottom of Page 7 of her brief, she never asked the court to do either. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 7). *See infra* at Pg. 21.

This court will forgive an appellant’s failure to provide a concise and direct statement of issues on appeal, but only if the party’s argument is nonetheless “reasonably clear.” *Gibson v. Ameris Bank*, 420 S.C. 536, 804 S.E.2d 276 (Ct. App. 2017); *Eubank v. Eubank*, 347 S.C. 367, 373 n. 2, 555 S.E.2d 413, 416 n. 2 (Ct. App. 2001); and *Southern Welding Works, Inc. v. K & S Constr. Co.*, 286 S.C. 158, 160, 332 S.E.2d 102, 104 (Ct. App. 1985). The Statement is vague and precise, we submit, because Appellant never in fact made a clear motion, never objected to the

trial court's curative instructions not discuss the case until told to do so, never asked the court to hold an evidentiary hearing where the court could voir dire jurors or either of the other two court officials involved, never asked the court to state for the record what the court itself heard or saw, and never made a clear motion for a mistrial or to release or question a particular juror.

III. Appellant did not preserve any of the issues she raises on appeal.

Background Facts

Ms. Anderson was seen by Respondent Dr. Thompson in the Emergency Department of Trident Medical Center in Moncks Corner, SC, on April 12, 2016 complaining of pain in both of her legs. (R. p. 71, lines 10 - 17). Dr. Thompson took a history from Ms. Anderson and listened to her symptoms, reviewed what he had of her medical record, ordered tests and reviewed the results, and examined her. (R. pp. 67 - 72).

Significant to Dr. Thompson's defense is that he ruled out the possibility that she had blood clots in her legs. (R. p. 66, lines 3 - 10). Dr. Thompson ruled out that possibility because while Ms. Anderson said both of her legs hurt equally (R. p. 71, lines 17 - 18), neither was swollen (R. p. 72, lines 18 - 22). "I do not think that it is any way possible or reasonable to think that somebody can have a bilateral clot through their pelvis and legs and not have swelling from that." (R. p. 71, lines 22 - 25). "Almost never does a patient present with a [clot] in both legs at the same time unless the patient is bedbound or paralyzed." (R. p. 70, line 24 – p. 217, line 9). She had a mildly elevated heart rate (R. p. 74, lines 2 - 16), but it normalized during the visit. (R. p. 74, line 23 – p. 75, line 5). She didn't report being dizzy or lightheaded that day. (R. p. 123, lines 7 – 12). She was not having shortness of breath or chest pain, and her oxygen level was 100%. (R. p. 74, lines 17 - 22). She didn't have any symptoms that would suggest "anything dangerous." (R. p. 74, lines 17 - 19). "It was very clear then and very clear now that she had a long history of chronic pain just like this.

There was absolutely nothing about her presentation that said this is a [clot].” (R. p. 82, lines 14 - 18). Based on these findings, Dr. Thompson discharged Ms. Anderson with instructions and prescriptions. (R. p. 88, lines 12 – 20).

Appellant’s expert was a hematologist (R. p. 101, lines 8 – 9) who has never practiced emergency medicine since completing a rotation as a resident. (R. p. 114, lines 1 – 5). He opined that Dr. Thompson should not have sent Ms. Anderson home from the emergency department. (R. p., lines 15 – 17).

The next day Ms. Anderson was taken by ambulance to Roper St. Francis Berkeley Hospital and pronounced dead. Appellant blamed Dr. Thompson, and her hematologist expert opined that Ms. Anderson in fact had a blood clot in her legs, that the clot broke free, and that the clot caused a pulmonary embolism that caused her death. (R. p. 103, line 23 – p. 104, line 10). Dr. Thompson, on the other hand, and his expert witnesses testified that he (Dr. Thompson) upheld the standard of care in treating Ms. Anderson and did not cause or contribute to her death. (R. pp. 71 – 75) (Dr. Thompson); *et seq.* (Dr. Carter - expert in emergency medicine); (R. p. 147) *et seq.* (Dr. McCrae – expert in trauma surgery and critical care medicine); and (R. p. 154, lines 20 – 24) (Dr. Scott – expert in emergency medicine)].

As indicated above, the jury returned a verdict for the defense. (R. p. 159, lines 16 – 21).

Facts Related to Allegations of Juror Misconduct

Appellant points to three episodes during the trial for which she contends she is entitled to a new trial: An alleged insult the forelady is said to have made to the trial judge (R. pp. 104 *et seq.*); A comment made by an unknown juror suggesting he might discuss the case (*Id.*); and eyerolling and eye daggers said to have been shot at all counsel by the forelady (R. pp. 119 *et seq.*).

Alleged Insult: After the luncheon recess on the third day of the trial, the trial court reported:

THE COURT: There was some negative reaction from some of the jurors, rather inappropriate language and so forth, contrary to my instructions, you know. *** But apparently the jury does not like the fact that I told them not to discuss the case, even amongst themselves, you know. I should have told them that at the very start of the case, But I told them, of course, not to discuss with anybody, you at home or anything like that. But I would have included that instruction early, but I know I didn't at some point in time tell them not even amongst themselves.

Of course, the reason for that is they haven't heard everything, and they shouldn't be trying to make a decision based on part of the testimony or evidence. Of course, they ought to consider it, take it in and listen to it, retain and everything, evaluate and everything. But as far as making any decisions are concerned, that's for them to do at the conclusion of the case when they've heard from everybody.

(R. p. 105, line 4 – p. 106, line 5).

The trial court then called the Clerk of Court to the stand. She testified:

THE WITNESS: Berkeley County Clerk of Court.

THE COURT: All right: And tell us what's been reported to you by people that are associated with the court operation.

THE WITNESS: Your Honor, at the lunch break, my courtroom manager came to me, and she reported to me something she thought I needed to be aware of, that the officer in the courtroom overheard.

THE COURT: And tell us what that was.

THE WITNESS: That when you dismissed them for a break, the forelady stood up. You admonished them to not discuss the case, she stood up and said –

THE COURT: She said something about the ...

THE WITNESS: She said, "F you" in the courtroom. The officer overheard her, and they went in the jury room

(R. p. 107, lines 1 - 17) (truncated to separate the insult from the comment about juror discussions).

The Clerk reported that the Courtroom Officer said the insult was addressed to the trial judge. (R. p. 109, lines 1 – 5).

Alleged comment about juror discussing the case: As part of the same testimony, the Clerk of Court went on to say (with some overlap for context):

THE WITNESS: *** The [courtroom] officer overheard her, and they went in the jury room and someone -- one of the jurors in the jury room was heard, "I'll discuss this case, if I want to. What is he going to do to me, throw me in jail?" And I felt that it was important, I needed to bring it to your attention.

(R. p. 107, lines 16 – 22).

The Clerk was unable to say whether the person who made the comment in the jury room was male or female (R. p. 109, lines 7 – 12), since the Clerk said she heard it from the Courtroom Manager, who said she heard it from the Courtroom Officer (R. p. 107, lines 6 – 9), who apparently did not say whether the speaker was male or female.

The trial court decided to treat the issue with the same level as counsel had: The court told counsel it intended to admonish the jury "again about discussing the case, even amongst themselves, in as strong a language that I can ... *and see where it goes from there.*" (R. p. 109, lines 15 – 20). (emphasis added).

Appellant responded with the following:

MR. JEKEL²: If they have begun deliberating or discussing the case, I think that's completely inappropriate. Either way, they might be in our favor; they might be in their favor. But I don't think you can go on with the jury, if they've already started deliberating.

THE COURT: Well, I appreciate that, but I'm going to admonish them and hopefully remove that from any further anticipation in the case. I'm going to do the best I can to keep this trial going.

MS. SEITHEL³: Your Honor, I'm wondering if there's anything that you can do to try to [ferret] out who the other juror was, or if it was the forelady. I mean, I think it's completely inappropriate for anyone on that jury to use "F you," especially towards Your Honor.

² Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellant

³ Also counsel for Plaintiff/Appellant

MS. MASON⁴: We would agree.

MS. SEITHEL: You and I have not been on the same page, and I never once ---

THE COURT: I don't want to say anything about that, but anyway I appreciate that, you know. But I'm going to bring the jury out here, and I'm going to see if we can go on, you know. **You can renew your motions; you can make more motions, if you want to, you know, later on in the case, you know,** but I'm going to see if I can keep it going at this point.

(R. p. 109, line 23 – p. 110, line 23) (emphasis added).

The court then admonished the jury not to discuss the case until instructed to do so. (R. p. 111, line 8 – p. 113, line 13].

Later in this brief we will discuss what did *not* happen at that point.

Alleged eyerolling and eye daggers: After the witness completed his testimony, Appellant's counsel reported that she had "a small issue that we would like to address with you---." (R. p. 117, lines 10 – 11). She reported that she and counsel for Respondents were in agreement that while the court was giving its instructions and as the witness was called back to the stand, "The foreperson gave a big roll of her eyes at, I'm not sure if it was you, Dr. Streiff, myself, or Ms. Simmons. But – and then as Ms. Ballentine proceeded with her question, and I did with mine, honestly, I don't think she wants to be here at all, Your Honor, because she shot the same daggers at both of us." (R. p. 117, line 25 – p. 118, line 10). Counsel for Respondents agreed. (R. p. 118, line 11). Counsel for Appellants then said, "And it's very – I think it taints the entire jury; I think that it taints the entire process." (R. p. 118, lines 12 – 14). Respondents' counsel and she agreed it was "Very disruptive" and "distracting." (R. p. 118, lines 16 – 19). Respondents' counsel agreed to release the forelady, "**if** the court – **if** Your Honor agrees." (R. p. 118, lines 20 – 23) (emphasis added).

⁴ Counsel for Respondents

The court then asked:

So, as I understand – what you’re telling me is both of y’all want me to remove the foreperson from the jury?

(R. p. 118, line 24 – p. 119, line 1). And of utmost importance is the response of Appellant’s counsel, who wanted to keep her options open. She said, “Or check in with her, because something is different today with her than yesterday and the day before.” (R. p. 119, lines 2 – 4).

The trial court responded by noting from his observation that the forelady was paying particular attention and in fact had tried to ask a question but withdrew it when she found it had been answered. (R. p. 119, lines 5 – 22). The court announced it was:

Not making a final decision about it at this point, but I’m not going to take her off right now and everything, I’m going to again at the end of – later on, again admonish the jury about what they are to do and not do and so forth and everything, you know. And I certainly will take that into consideration before we submit the case to the jury after closing and everything, and will make a final decision about that then. But right now, I’m not going to take her off right now.

(R. p. 120, lines 6 – 16).

And here we list what did not happen as a result of either episode:

Appellant did not object to anything the trial court did or said and certainly did not object clearly. The closest Appellant came to complaining about an alleged insult occurred when she said:

I mean, I think it’s completely inappropriate for anyone on that jury to use “F you,” especially towards Your Honor.”

(R. p. 110, lines 11 – 13).

The closest Appellant came to complaining about the comment made back in the jury room occurred when her lawyer said:

If they have begun deliberating or discuss the case, I think that’s completely inappropriate. Either way, they might be in our favor; they might be in their favor. But I don’t think you can go on with the jury, **if** they’ve already started deliberating.”

(R. p. 110, line 23 – p. 111, line 3). (emphasis added.)

Appellant did not ask for an evidentiary hearing or for a factual determination of whether the jury had begun deliberating, and she did not object to how the trial court, exercising its discretion, decided to deal with the issue (with an admonition not to discuss the case, even among themselves, until they had heard all the evidence, seen everything present, heard the lawyers with their opening statement, their argument to the jury, and the court’s instructions on the law). (R. 111, line 22 – p. 112, line 3).

Appellant never asked that the forelady be dismissed. When the court asked if “both of y’all want me to remove the foreperson from the jury,” she did not say, “Yes, Your Honor. We move that the foreperson be removed from the jury.” Instead she said:

MS. SEITHEL: Or check in with her, because something is different today with her than yesterday and the day before.

(R. p. 119, lines 2 - 4).

Appellant then withdrew her concerns about the presence of the forelady on the jury when she said, “We just wanted to bring that to your attention.” (R. p. 120, lines 19 – 20).

Appellant never asked the court for a final ruling after the court had said it was “not making a final decision on it at this point.” (R. p. 120, lines 6 – 16).

Appellant did not ask the trial court to state what it heard regarding the alleged insult.

Appellant never asked the court to ask the Clerk of Court any additional questions (other than whether the person who uttered the insult was the same person who said she would discuss the case if he or she wanted to).

Appellant did not object to the court’s curative instructions.

Appellant did not offer her own proposed curative instruction.

Appellant never asked for an evidentiary hearing where the Courtroom Officer or the

Courtroom Manager could be questioned under oath about their first-hand knowledge of any alleged insult or the suggestion that a juror might discuss the case.

Appellant never asked that the forelady be questioned during an evidentiary hearing about any alleged juror misconduct. The statement on Page 7 of Appellant’s brief that the trial judge declined to question the forelady (citing R. p. 120, lines 6 – 9) is simply not true: Appellant never asked the court to question her. (Appellant’s Brief, p. 7).

Appellant never moved for a mistrial, only coming close when as we stated before, her lawyer said, “I don’t think you can go on with the jury “[if] they have begun deliberating” or if they’ve already started deliberating.” (R. p. 110, lines 1 – 3) emphasis added.

Appellant never asked anybody (the court, the Clerk of Court, the Courtroom Manager, the Courtroom officer, or any juror) whether the juror in question had actually discussed the case with anyone. In fact, there is no evidence at all that this unknown juror did actually discuss the case with anyone prematurely.

At the end of the testimony *the defense* renewed its motion to remove the forelady (R. p. 157, lines 4 – 7), but Appellant did not join in the motion (*id.*), despite Appellant’s suggestion to the contrary. (Appellant’s Brief at p. 7). Appellant did not take the court up on its offer to reconsider the continued participation of the forelady after closing arguments. See (R. p. 158, line 13 – p. 159, line 6). The alternates were excused (R. p. 159, line 7) and a verdict returned by the original jury. (R. p. 159, lines 15 – 20).

Argument and Law on Error Preservation

General Error Preservation Rules

Generally speaking, an appellate court will only consider issues that were first fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court. *Hubbard v. Rowe*, 192 S.C. 12,

5 S.E.2d 187 (1939). Accordingly, a trial judge will not be reversed for failing to act on a matter that was not submitted to him. *Price v. Pickens County*, 308 S.C. 64, 416 S.E.2d 666 (Ct. App 1992), citing *Roche v. S.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission*, 263 S.C. 451, 211 S.E.2d 243 (1975).

In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the lower court; (2) raised by the Appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised in the lower court with sufficient specificity. Jean Hoefer Toal *et al.*, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 185 (3rd ed. 2016), citing *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007); *See also State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 816 S.E.2d 566 (2018), to the same effect.

It is not fair to trial courts for counsel to make a weak, imprecise objection and hold it as “an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); *Cox v. S.C. Educ. Lottery Comm'n*, 441 S.C. 209, 893 S.E.2d 342 (Ct. App. 2023).

As we all know, “Appellate courts in this state, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked.” *Langley v. Boyter*, 284 S.C. 162, 325 S.E.2d 550 (Ct App. 1984, *op. quashed on entirely different grounds*, 286 S.C. 85, 332 S.E.2d 100 (1985)).

Failure to Object to Allegations of Pre-verdict, Intrinsic Juror Misconduct

A case quite similar to this is *State v. Chhith-Berry*, 437 S.C. 527, 878 S.E.2d 352 (Ct. App. 2022). There, during the State’s case-in-chief, the bailiff told the trial court that the jury had been participating in premature deliberations. (The fact that jurors had participated in premature

deliberations was not contested.) The trial judge's response was to give a curative instruction to the jury that is exceedingly similar to the ones given here: That jurors were not allowed to discuss the case in any fashion among one another, even on breaks, they needed to follow the court's instructions, and they are not to discuss the case until they had received all of the testimony, all the evidence in the record, and the court's instructions on the law. The trial judge reiterated what he had just said by saying, "So don't discuss the case. You can talk about the weather, you can talk about [the bailiff], you can talk about him, whatever you like, but not about the case." *Chhith-Berry* at 538.

And there, just like here, the appellant did not object to the instruction or move for a mistrial and did not renew his motion for a mistrial at the conclusion of the State's case. One of his grounds for appeal was that the trial court erred by failing to grant his motion for a mistrial because he was prejudiced by premature jury deliberations. The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction with the following:

Our supreme court "ha[s] routinely held that a party must object at the first opportunity to preserve an issue for review. (Citing *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307; 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999): "In light of [the defendant's] failure to call the alleged juror misconduct to the trial court's attention at his first opportunity to do so, we hold he is procedurally barred from raising the issue."); *see also State v. Vang*, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding that the defendant failed to preserve for appellate review his contention that the trial court should have questioned each juror to determine whether premature deliberations had occurred because he did not object to the trial court's ruling or contemporaneously request individual questioning of the jurors). Additionally, "appellate court[s] will not consider any fact which does not appear in the [r]ecord on [a]ppeal." Rule 210(h), SCACR.

Chhith-Berry at 364.

The Court of Appeals also noted:

[Appellant] knew premature jury deliberations had allegedly taken place because the trial court gave a curative instruction, yet [appellant] did not object to the trial court's curative instruction, request that the trial court question the jury regarding

premature deliberations, or move for a mistrial. Instead, [appellant] waited until after the jury submitted its guilty verdict to raise the issue in a posttrial motion.

Id.

As a result, the Court of Appeals concluded the issue was not preserved for appellate review and affirmed the trial court.

The *Vang* case cited in *Chhith-Berry* is helpful, too. There, during the trial, the foreperson sent a note to the court that led to the court questioning him in chambers about possible bias against Asians. The court announced that the foreperson had indicated twice that comments about “the Oriental family” were not the result of members discussing the evidence in the case. The court shared the results of the questioning with counsel, and they said they were satisfied. On appeal, the appellant took the position that the court should have questioned all of the jurors individually. The Court of Appeals ruled that the issue was not preserved for review.

Vang and *Chhith-Berry* are based on *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999), a case involving the discovery of allegedly prejudicial jury misconduct after the verdict was returned. As part of dealing with the appellant’s claim that the misconduct was discovered during the trial itself, the Supreme Court wrote that had it been so discovered and *had a timely request been made*, “the court could have *voir dired* the jury prior to its verdict to determine if, in fact, there had been premature deliberations, and whether [the appellant] had been prejudiced thereby.” The Supreme Court then laid out two rules: (1) jury misconduct in the form of premature deliberations does not warrant automatic reversal, and (2) the burden is on the defendant to demonstrate that such deliberations affected the jury’s verdict. *Aldret* at 313.

As for the particular issue involving the failure of the court to dismiss the forelady, we would point out that an appellant has not preserved an issue for appeal if it was another party who raised the objection. *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 SC 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997) (citing

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